THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM LAURENS COUNTY
General Sessions Court

Thomas A. Russo, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

C.A. No. 2012-212940

RECEIVED

NOV 17 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

Domonique Brown.....Petitioner,

vs.

State of South Carolina..... Respondent.

PETITIONER DOMONIQUE
BROWN'S BRIEF

Christopher T. Brumback
Spencer D. Langley
Bryan S. Haskins
1 Augusta Street, Suite 301D
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 414-9097
Attorneys for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Pursuant to United States Supreme Court Sixth Amendment jurisprudence Petitioner Domonique Brown received ineffective assistance from his trial counsel in derogation of his Sixth Amendment rights where, during the pre-trial phase of Petition's case, trial counsel, against Petitioner's expressly stated demands and goals, withdrew a pivotal motion, leaving Petitioner with no choice but to accept the plea negotiated by his trial counsel.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Circuit Court's denial of Petitioner Domonique Brown's (hereinafter "Petitioner" or "Mr. Brown") Post-Conviction Relief. Petitioner was indicted at the February 2007 term of the Laurens County Grand Jury for Murder (2007-GS-30-220), Armed Robbery (2007-GS-30-221), and Possession of a Firearm or Knife during the Commission of a Violent Crime (2007-GS-30-222). App. p.71. On May 18, 2009, Petitioner pled guilty as indicted to the aforementioned charges. App. p.72. The Honorable D. Garrison Hill sentenced Petitioner to a negotiated sentence of thirty (30) years for Murder, thirty (30) years for Armed Robbery, and five (5) years for the weapon charge, sentences running concurrently. App. p.72.

Petitioner filed for Post-Conviction Relief on July 6, 2010. The State made its Return on January 21, 2011. App. p.71. An evidentiary hearing into the matter was convened on June 4, 2012, at the Newberry County Courthouse. App. p.71. On June 28, 2012 Judge Thomas A. Russo signed an Order dismissing, with prejudice, the Application for Post-Conviction Relief because Applicant failed to establish any constitutional violations or deprivations that would require the court to grant the Application. Subsequent to Judge Russo's denial of Petitioner's Application for Post-Conviction Relief a Notice of Appeal was timely filed on Petitioner's behalf.

Accordingly, this matter is before the Court pursuant to a Post-Conviction Relief proceeding initiated by Mr. Brown alleging ineffective assistance of counsel and a violation of his Sixth Amendment rights.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Trial counsel, William S. McGuire (hereinafter referred to as “trial counsel” or “Mr. McGuire”), filed a number of pre-trial motions in this case. App. p.39, l.22-23. The particular motion at issue was filed to suppress a statement from Mr. Brown about where the murder weapon was located and to suppress certain physical evidence, including but not limited to the murder weapon itself. App. p.39, l.22-23. Mr. McGuire admitted this was “not an insignificant motion.” App. p.40, l.14-15. Subsequent to its filing the motion was held under advisement by the trial judge. App. p.40, l.17. While the motion was under advisement, Mr. McGuire used what he felt was “a pretty good motion based on a pretty good investigation to have the prosecutor withdraw the death notice.” App. p.41, l.4-6. Mr. McGuire then informed Mr. Brown that he had withdrawn the motion in question, to which Mr. Brown clearly and vociferously objected. App. p.40, l.11-12. In objecting to Mr. McGuire’s decision to act in what he felt was Mr. Brown’s best interest, Mr. Brown informed Mr. McGuire that he “wanted to have the judge decide the motion before making any other decisions with regard to a trial or plea.” App. p.40, l.17-19. Despite Mr. Brown’s clearly and unequivocally stated demand to proceed toward trial with the rendering of a decision on the motion in question, Mr. McGuire came to the Laurens County Detention Center, where Mr. Brown was being housed, and informed Mr. Brown that the decision was already made to withdraw the motion, and that the motion had in fact been withdrawn. App. p.55, l. 22-24. Mr. Brown, being incarcerated, then took the only action available to him and vehemently commanded Mr. McGuire to return to the solicitor and put the motion back

on the table to proceed towards trial. App. p.55, 1.24. Again despite Mr. Brown's fervent wishes, Mr. McGuire informed Mr. Brown in a heated discussion there was no way he was going back to put the motion on the table. App. p.55, 1.24; App. p.56, 1.1. Having had the critical motion withdrawn against his express wishes and commands to proceed towards trial, Mr. Brown, now faced with a trial into which evidence upon which he would surely be convicted was to be admitted, proceeded with the only course of action left open to him by his attorney and entered into the plea agreement negotiated by his counsel. App. p.54, 1.23-25; p.55, 1.1-3.

ARGUMENT

- I. Pursuant to United States Supreme Court Sixth Amendment jurisprudence Petitioner Domonique Brown received ineffective assistance from his trial counsel in derogation of his Sixth Amendment rights where, during the pre-trial phase of Petitioner's case, trial counsel, against Petitioner's expressly stated demands and goals, withdrew a pivotal motion, leaving Petitioner with no choice but to accept the plea negotiated by his trial counsel.**

At its most basic, the issue presented to this honorable Court by this appeal is one concerning the fundamental nature of the rights created by the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. In essence the question is whether the Sixth Amendment simply dictates the provision of organs of the State to create a façade of fairness and due process of law or whether the Amendment guarantees to each defendant the tools of defense by which the accused can exercise his right to defend himself personally. Turning to the language of the Amendment itself it, the Founding Fathers tacitly answered this question in favor of the individual, providing that:

In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury..., and to be informed of the nature

and cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor, and to have the Assistance of Counsel for his defense.

U.S. Const. amend. VI (emphasis added). As recognized by the United States Supreme Court, the “personal character” of the Sixth Amendment “does not provide merely that a defense shall be made for the accused; it grants to the accused personally the right to make his defense.” Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 819 (1975) (“The right to defend is given directly to the accused; for it is he who suffers the consequences if the defense fails.”) (emphasis added); see also United States v. Cronin, 466 U.S. 648, 654 (1984) (“The [Sixth] Amendment requires not merely the provision of counsel to the accused, but ‘Assistance,’ which is to be ‘for his defence.’”).

Of these tools of personal defense that are guaranteed to the accused by the Sixth Amendment, “the right to be represented by counsel is by far the most pervasive for it affects [the accused’s] ability to assert any other rights he may have.” Cronin, 466 U.S. at 654. Though representation by counsel is the “means through which the other rights of the person on trial are secured,” it is essential that counsel not lose its character as an assistant for the accused’s personal defense, least it become “an organ of the State interposed between an unwilling defendant and his right to defend himself personally.” Faretta, 422 U.S. at 820-21 (“An unwanted counsel ‘represents’ the defendant only through a tenuous and unacceptable legal fiction.”); Cronin, 466 U.S. at 654-55 (“The Constitution’s guarantee of assistance of counsel cannot be satisfied by mere formal appointment.”). As such, the right to counsel must not only mean the right to “the effective assistance of counsel,” but, as a “necessary corollary,...the right to

representation that is free from conflicts of interest.” Fullwood v. Lee, 290 F.3d 663, 688-89 (4th Cir. 2002); Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688 (1984) (“Counsel’s function is to assist the defendant, and hence counsel owes the client a duty of loyalty, a duty to avoid conflicts of interest.”); see also Nance v. Ozmint, 367 S.C. 547, 626 S.E.2d 878, 880 (2006) (“[T]he Sixth Amendment requires that a criminal defendant receive effective assistance of counsel.”). The constitutional requirement imposed by the Sixth Amendment that counsel be “effective” and “loyal” in assisting an accused with his personal defense is built upon the reality that “it is [the accused] who suffers the consequences if [his] defense fails,” not his attorney. Faretta, 422 U.S. at 820; Cooke v. Delaware, 977 A.2d 803, 842 (Del. 2009) (holding that “[a]lthough these fundamental decisions are indeed strategic choices that counsel might be better able to make, because the consequences of them are the defendant’s alone, they are too important to be made by anyone else”); see also ABA Model Code Prof. Responsibility, EC 7-8 (directing that “[i]n the final analysis...the lawyer should always remember that the decision whether to forego legally available objectives or methods because of non-legal factors is ultimately for the client and not for himself”); South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct, Rule 1.2, RPC, Rule 407, SCACR (“[A] lawyer shall abide by a client’s decisions concerning the objectives of representation and...shall consult with the client as to the means by which they are to be pursued...In a criminal case, the lawyer shall abide by the client’s decision, after consultation with the lawyer, as to a plea to be entered, whether to waive jury trial and whether the client will testify.”).

Consequently both the United States Supreme Court and various state courts throughout the United States have time and again held that “certain decisions regarding the exercise or waiver of basic trial rights are of such moment that they cannot be made for the defendant by a surrogate.” Florida v. Nixon, 543 U.S. 175, 187 (2004); Jones v. Barnes, 463 U.S. 745, 751 (1983) (“It is also recognized that the accused has the ultimate authority to make certain fundamental decisions regarding the case, as to whether to plead guilty, waive a jury, testify in his or her own behalf, or take an appeal.”); Abney v. State, Op. No. 5207 (S.C. Ct. App. filed March 19, 2014) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 11 at 64) (Pieper, J., concurring) (“Certain decisions are considered fundamental and personal to a criminal defendant, and thus, are waivable only by the defendant.”); Taylor v. Delaware, 28 A.3d 399, 406 (Del. 2011) (holding that “certain fundamental decisions regarding [a criminal] case...implicate inherently personal rights which would call into question the fundamental fairness of [a] trial if made by anyone other than the defendant”) (internal quotation marks omitted); see also Edwards v. Florida, 88 So. 3d 368, 374 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2012) (holding that trial counsel violated defendant’s Sixth Amendment rights where trial counsel asserted the affirmative defense of insanity over defendant’s objection because such a defense was akin to a plea and, accordingly, violated counsel’s “responsibility to abide by his client’s decisions concerning the objectives of the representation”); Montana v. Jones, 923 P.2d 560, 566 (Mont. 1996) (holding that a criminal defendant’s Sixth Amendment rights were violated where attorney’s conduct ran “directly afoul of Rule 1.2(a), MRPC” where attorney “put his personal interest in not wanting to take [defendant’s] case to trial ahead of [defendant’s]

constitutional right to an attorney devoted solely to [defendant's] interest in exercising his right to a trial by jury"). In defense of the personal nature of the Sixth Amendment and to ensure counsel remains an "assistant" to the accused and not a "master," the United States Supreme Court has promulgated two related lines of cases that acknowledge "first magnitude" violations of a criminal defendant's Sixth Amendment rights where the actions and/or conflicts of interest of counsel wrest control of the ends of an accused's defense from the defendant and thereby "strip[]" the accused's defense "of the personal character upon which the [Sixth] Amendment insists." Faretta, 422 U.S. at 820.

The first of the two lines of cases to be discussed herein in which the United States Supreme Court found one of these "first magnitude" violations is Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335, 350 (1980), in which the Court held that a "defendant who show[ed] that a conflict of interest actually affected the adequacy of his representation" had suffered a per se "denial of the right to have effective assistance of counsel," and "need not demonstrate prejudice in order to obtain relief." State v. Gregory, 364 S.C. 150, 612 S.E.2d 449, 450 (2005) (holding that to establish a violation of Sixth Amendment rights "a defendant need not demonstrate prejudice if there is an actual conflict of interest"). Augmenting the Cuyler prohibition against real and substantial conflicts of interest, the United States Supreme Court in Cronic, 466 U.S. at 658, expanded the prohibition of Cuyler to situations in which counsel's actions or inactions have constructively denied an accused the affective assistance of counsel by failing to "function in any meaningful sense as the Government's adversary." Nance 367 S.C. at ___, 626 S.E.2d at 880-81. As with Cuyler, where counsel's actions result in a

constructive denial of the right to the effective assistance of counsel, a “constitutional error of the first magnitude” has occurred “and no amount of showing of want of prejudice would cure it,” and, accordingly, none is required to obtain relief. Cronic, 466 U.S. at 659. Pursuant to the tests laid out by both Cuyler and Cronic, the actions of counsel in the case at bar were clearly antithetical to the loyal and effective assistance of counsel contemplated and guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment.

A. The Conflict Between Trial Counsel’s Personal Sympathies and Petitioner’s Right to the Assistance of Counsel Devoted Solely to Petitioner’s Interest in Exercising his Right to Trial Constituted a Real and Substantial Conflict of Interest that Adversely Affected Petitioner’s Defense.

Implicit in the personal and individual nature of the Sixth Amendment, and necessary to ensure that defense counsel is not simply an organ of the State, the right to effective assistance of counsel must “[a]t a minimum...encompass the attorney’s duty of loyalty to the client and, concomitantly, the duty to avoid conflicts of interest.” United States v. Magini, 973 F.2d 261, 263 (4th Cir. 1992); Fullwood v. Lee, 290 F.3d 663, 688-89 (4th Cir. 2002) (holding that a “necessary corollary to [defendant’s] Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel is the right to representation that is free from conflicts of interest”) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted); see Cuyler, 446 U.S. at 349-50 (holding that an attorney’s conflict of interest “itself demonstrated a denial of the right to have the effective assistance of counsel...Thus, a defendant who shows that a conflict of interest actually affected the adequacy of his representation need not demonstrate prejudice in order to obtain relief”) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Accordingly, where the assistance rendered by

defense counsel's is impeded by an actual conflict of interest, "counsel breaches the duty of loyalty, perhaps the most basic of counsel's duties," Strickland, 466 U.S. at 692, and what results is that the "defense presented is not the defense guaranteed [the defendant] by the Constitution for, in a very real sense, it is not his defense." Faretta, 422 U.S. at 821; but see Gregory, 364 S.C. at ___, 612 S.E.2d at 450 (noting while an actual conflict of interest will violate the Sixth Amendment, the "mere possibility defense counsel may have a conflict of interest is insufficient to impugn a criminal conviction"). Thus, in South Carolina the determinative question with regard to the Cuyler analysis is when does an actual conflict of interest occur.

As was recently reiterated by this Court in Gregory, the determination of whether an actual conflict of interest is violative of a defendant's Sixth Amendment rights turns on whether "a defense attorney [has] place[d] himself in a situation inherently conducive to divided loyalties...." 364 S.C. at ___, 612 S.E.2d at 450. In further expounding on the line where an attorney's conflict would render a trial fundamentally unfair, this Court cited Zuck v. Alabama, 588 F.3d 436 (5th Cir. 1979), and Colorado v. Castro, 657 P.2d 932 (Colo. 1983), for the proposition that the Sixth Amendment dictates that where an actual conflict of interest exists that might tempt counsel to "dampen the ardor of his defense" there exists a violation of the Sixth Amendment. Gregory, 364 S.C. at ___, 612 S.E.2d at 450-51 ("[A] defendant may not be represented by counsel who might be tempted to dampen the ardor of his defense...This possibility is sufficient to constitute an actual conflict as a matter of law.") (emphasis in original) citing Zuck, 588 F.3d at 440. Moreover, "[a] conflict may not always be 'as apparent as when [an attorney] formally

represents two parties who have hostile interests...[a]n attorney ‘may harbor substantial personal interests which conflict with the clear objective of his representation of the client:....” Brown v. United States, No. 4:05-cr-770-TLW (D.S.C. 2011) (quoting United States v. Tatum, 943 F.2d 370, 376 (4th Cir. 1991)) (emphasis added). Consistent with the realization that counsel’s personal interest can constitute an actual conflict of interest, the Fourth Circuit has further acknowledged that “the duty of loyalty is violated not merely when counsel represents clients who have conflicting interests, but also when counsel acts more for the benefit of, and with apparent sympathy toward, the prosecution than the client he is defending.” Fullwood, 290 F.3d at 689 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

Thus it is within this framework that counsel’s interests and actions in this case must be viewed to determine whether counsel’s assistance comported with that guaranteed to Petitioner by the Sixth Amendment. Looking to this framework provided by the courts, one consideration is starkly missing, that is the question of good faith on behalf of counsel. However, this absence is appropriate and easily understood in light of the discussion hereinabove concerning the very personal and individual nature of the rights afforded by the Sixth Amendment. See Faretta 422 U.S. at 819-21 (discussing the “personal character” of the Sixth Amendment). To inquire into the good faith of counsel’s actions would start down the impermissible and slippery slope towards transforming counsel’s role from that of “assistant” to a willing defendant to “master” and “organ of the State” interposed upon an unwilling defendant. Id. Consequently, whether counsel in this case believed that he was acting in best interest of Mr. Brown is

inconsequential, rather the question that is dispositive of whether Mr. Brown's Sixth Amendment rights were violated by counsel is whether counsel "put his personal interest in not wanting to take [Mr. Brown's] case to trial ahead of [Mr. Brown's] constitutional right to an attorney devoted solely to [Mr. Brown's] interest in exercising his right to trial by jury." Jones, 923 P.2d at 566 (holding defendant's Sixth Amendment rights to effective and loyal counsel were violated where counsel sought to be relieved because counsel found defendant's rejection of a favorably negotiated plea deal "repugnant," because the "conflict between [counsel's] sympathies and [defendant's] rights and interests [was] unmistakable and egregious and, under such circumstances, [counsel] can be said to have represented [defendant] only through a tenuous and unacceptable legal fiction") (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). As to this question, the Appendix is abundantly clear, while Mr. Brown's stated goal was to proceed with the rendering of a decision on the pivotal pre-trial motion and then on towards a not guilty trial verdict, counsel's stated goal was to use the "bargaining leverage that we had with a pretty good motion...to have the prosecutor withdraw the death notice." App. p.41, 1.4-6.

The actual conflict of interest between Mr. Brown's goals and those of counsel are further evidenced by Mr. Brown's unequivocal demands for counsel to obtain a final ruling on the pivotal and, in essence, dispositive pre-trial motion, and counsel's response that there was no way he would refile the motion in question. App. p.55, 1.24; App. p.56, 1.1. Allowing the substitution of counsel's opinion as to what is "best," in this case that Mr. Brown avoid the death penalty, is utterly antithetical to the duty of loyalty required by the personal nature of the Sixth Amendment. Moreover, by acting to obtain his own

goal, avoidance of the death penalty for Mr. Brown, through withdrawal of a “not an insignificant motion,” App. p.40, l.14-15, counsel acted “more for the benefit of, and with more apparent sympathy toward, the prosecution than the client he [was] defending.” Fullwood, 290 F.3d at 689. Having adopted and acted on a belief that Mr. Brown should be convicted, counsel failed to function in any meaningful sense as the State’s adversary. Id.; see also App. p. 49, l. 1-7. Consequently, the facts at bar evidence not simply a case where counsel’s conflicting personal interest might have tempted counsel to dampen the ardor of his defense, but rather an egregious and actual violation of Cuyler in which counsel’s loyalties were so conflicted that he ceased to function as an advocate for Mr. Brown’s stated goals, as opposed to a friend of the court. Jones v. Barnes, 463 U.S. 745, 758 (1983) (Brennan, J., dissenting) (“To satisfy the Constitution, counsel must function as an advocate for the defendant, as opposed to a friend of the court”); see also Taylor, 28 A.3d at 408 (holding that trial judge properly protected defendant from an “irreconcilable conflict” where defendant’s desired result, a not guilty verdict, was in conflict with counsel’s proposed strategy of guilty but mentally ill by prohibiting defendant’s counsel from “overriding” defendant’s “plain intent to seek a not guilty verdict”). Based on the existence of an actual conflict of interest on behalf of Mr. Brown’s counsel, which did in fact affect his representation of Mr. Brown, Mr. Brown’s Sixth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel in the presentation of his chosen defense, Mr. Brown’s Sixth Amendment rights were violated and he is entitled to a new trial.

B. Trial Counsel's Usurpation of Petitioner's Ultimate Authority to Make Certain Fundamental Decisions with Regard to his Defense Constructively Denied Petitioner the Assistance of Counsel in Pursuing Petitioner's Chosen Trial Objective and Further Failed to Expose the State's Case to the Crucible of Meaningful Adversarial Testing.

As a companion case to the United States Supreme Court's decision in Strickland, the Court, after establishing the general rule in Strickland that to prevail on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim a defendant must also establish prejudice, acknowledged "circumstances that are so likely to prejudice the accused that the cost of litigating their effect in a particular case is unjustified." Cronic, 466 U.S. at 658. Of the three circumstances which the Court acknowledged as "per-se" prejudicial, the one that is applicable to this case is the second situation noted by the Court is where there has been "a constructive denial of counsel," which happens when counsel "entirely fails to subject the prosecution's case to meaningful adversarial testing," rendering "the adversary process itself presumptively unreliable." Id. at 659; see also Nance, 367 S.C. at ____, 626 S.E.2d at 880.

To determine what constitutes a constructive denial of counsel within the meaning of this case, it is again necessary to harken back to the personal and individual nature of the rights guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment. See Faretta, 422 U.S. at 820-21. It is the personal nature of the defense guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment from which "derive the overarching duty to advocate the defendant's cause and the more particular duties to consult with the defendant on important decisions and to keep the defendant informed of important developments in the course of the prosecution." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688. Though counsel "undoubtedly has a duty to consult with the client regarding important

decisions, including questions of overarching defense strategy...[t]hat obligation, however does not require counsel to obtain the defendant's consent to every tactical decision."¹ Nixon, 543 U.S. at 187 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Nonetheless, some decisions "regarding the exercise or waiver of basic trial and appellate rights are so personal to the defendant 'that they cannot be made for the defendant by a surrogate," for such choices "implicate inherently personal rights which would call into question the fundamental fairness of the trial if made by anyone other than the defendant." Cooke, 977 A.2d at 841 (quoting Nixon, 543 U.S. at 187 and Arko v. Colorado, 183 P.3d 555, 558 (Colo. 2008)). Accordingly, the accused has the ultimate authority to make certain fundamental decisions regarding the case, as to whether to plead guilty, waive a jury, testify in his or her own behalf, or take an appeal." Barnes, 463 U.S. at 751. With regard to these decisions concerning the objectives of the representation, "an attorney must both consult with the defendant and obtain consent to the recommended course of action." Nixon, 543 U.S. at 187.

Though the State will undoubtedly argue that pre-trial motions are classic tactical decisions that are within the purview of the attorney, and that as such, counsel's withdrawal and refusal to refile the motion in question was a tactical question that cannot form the grounds for a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, the motion in question went directly to the heart of those decisions that are the defendant's alone, namely the

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