RECEIVED

MAR - 9 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO LAURENS COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Thomas A. Russo, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2012-212940

Domonique Brown..... Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. RUTLEDGE JOHNSON
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar # 78871

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The PCR court properly found Counsel's decision to withdraw the pre-trial motion to suppress Petitioner's statement and physical evidence without the consent of Petitioner was a valid strategic decision and properly found Petitioner failed to prove resulting prejudice from Counsel's decision.

Petitioner asserts Counsel was ineffective because he, "against Petitioner's expressly stated demands and goals, withdrew a pivotal motion, leaving Petitioner with no choice but to accept the plea negotiated by [Counsel]." Further, Petitioner claims there existed a "substantial conflict of interest that adversely affected Petitioner's defense" and that Counsel "failed to expose the State's case to the crucible of meaningful adversarial testing" in contradiction of Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335 (1980) and United States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648 (1984).

As to the issue that Counsel had a conflict of interest in defending Petitioner's case, Petitioner cites almost solely to cases, specifically Cuyler, which concern defense counsel representing multiple clients in a case which possibly created a conflict of interest. Clearly, that was not the case in Petitioner's case as he was the only defendant.

As to the issue that Counsel failed to submit the State's case to any meaningful adversarial testing, specifically under Cronic, the record clearly indicates Counsel, who is death-penalty certified and had practiced criminal defense for many years, conducted a thorough review of the evidence, was prepared to try this case on Petitioner's behalf and correctly advised Petitioner, based on the severity the allegations, to accept a guilty plea to the minimum sentence for the charge of murder.

Nevertheless, these first two issues are not preserved for this appeal. "To be preserved for appellate review, an issue must be both presented to and passed upon by the trial court. If the issue is raised but not ruled on, it is not preserved for appeal." State v. Watts, 321 S.C. 158, 167, 467 S.E.2d 272, 278 (Ct. App. 1996). Only a matter that has been ruled on below can be

reviewed, otherwise, the appellate court would be exercising original jurisdiction. State v. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 204 S.E.2d 727 (1974). These first two issues and arguments were not raised in Petitioner's PCR application, were not argued at the PCR hearing, were not ruled upon by the PCR court, and were not raised in the Petition for Writ of Certiorari. Clearly, these issues are not preserved for appeal and not properly before this Court.

Concerning the bare assertion that Counsel was ineffective because he, "against Petitioner's expressly stated demands and goals, with drew a pivotal motion, leaving Petitioner with no choice but to accept the plea negotiated by [Counsel]," the record and case law demonstrate this issue is without merit.

First, the proper standard for reviewing a PCR evidentiary hearing is whether "any evidence of probative value" exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989). In a PCR proceeding, the Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in his application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).

Additionally, "[t]here is a strong presumption that counsel rendered adequate assistance and exercised reasonable professional judgment in making all significant decisions in the case." Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 331, 642 S.E.2d 590, 596 (2007).

Moreover, "strategic choices made after thorough investigation of law and facts relevant to plausible options are virtually unchallengeable; and strategic choices made after less than complete investigation are reasonable precisely to the extent that reasonable professional judgments support the limitations on investigation." Abney v. State, 408 S.C. 41, 46, 757 S.E.2d 544, 547 (Ct. App. 2014), reh'g denied (Apr. 24, 2014), cert. denied (Jan. 15, 2015) (citing Strickland, 466 at 691, 104 S.Ct. 2052). "Counsel must articulate a valid reason for employing a

certain strategy to avoid a finding of ineffectiveness.” Abney at 46, 757 S.E.2d at 546-47 (Counsel’s decision to not request a lesser included offense was a tactical decision to be made by counsel and not the defendant). See also Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 610 S.E.2d 812 (2005); McLaughlin v. State, 352 S.C. 476, 575 S.E.2d 841 (2003). Also see South Carolina Ann. Rules of Professional Conduct Rule 1.2 (a) “A lawyer may take such action on behalf of the client as is impliedly authorized to carry out the representation.” *and* Rule 1.2 cmt. 2 (“On occasion, however, a lawyer and a client may disagree about the means to be used to accomplish the client's objectives. Clients normally defer to the special knowledge and skill of their lawyer with respect to the means to be used to accomplish their objectives, particularly with respect to technical, legal and tactical matters.”).

Further, a defendant alleging that his guilty plea was induced by ineffective assistance of counsel must prove that counsel's advice was not "within the competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases." Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 56, 106 S. Ct. 366, 369 (1985). A guilty plea is a solemn, judicial admission of the truth of the charges against the defendant. Statements made during the plea are conclusive unless the defendant presents reasons why they should be allowed to depart from the truth of those statements. Crawford v. U.S., 519 F.2d 347 (4th Cir. 1975); Edmonds v. Lewis, 546 F.2d 566 (4th Cir. 1976).

Lastly, great deference is given to the PCR court’s findings on matters of credibility, as the reviewing court lacks the opportunity to observe witnesses. Foye v. State, 335 S.C. 586, 518 S.E.2d 265 (1999); Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 430 S.E.2d 517 cert. denied, 510 U.S. 1014, 114 S.Ct. 607 (1993).

During the pre-trial phase of Petitioner’s case, Counsel filed motions to suppress Petitioner’s statements to law enforcement and physical evidence found as a result of Petitioner’s

statements. (App. p. 35 line 22- p. 36 line 4; p. 38 lines 18-20). During the PCR hearing, Counsel testified he decided to withdraw these motions in order for the prosecutor to withdraw the notice of death penalty and try Petitioner's case as a non-capital murder case. (App. p. 40 lines 2-5). Counsel admitted he did this without Petitioner's consent. (App. p. 40 lines 11-19). However, Counsel clearly testified he took such action for Petitioner's benefit. "What I did was I used the bargaining leverage that we had with a pretty good motion based on a pretty good investigation to have the prosecutor withdraw the death notice." (App. p. 41 lines 3-6). Counsel relayed this decision to Petitioner: "I told [Petitioner] I was going to withdraw [the motion to suppress]; that I had discussions with the prosecutor; that in exchange for withdrawing the motion, the prosecutor was going to rescind the notice of his intent to seek the death penalty; and that we could proceed to trial as a noncapital-murder trial." (App. p. 42 lines 1-6).

On cross-examination, Counsel admitted that there was sufficient evidence to find Petitioner guilty of murder, and there were aggravating circumstances which could warrant the death penalty. (App. p. 47 line 19- p. 48 line 4). Counsel also stated that even if the trial judge would have ruled in Petitioner's favor concerning the motions to suppress Petitioner's statements and physical evidence, the State still had sufficient evidence to convict Petitioner of Victim's murder. (App. p. 49 lines 1-6). Further, Counsel stated, "I mean, there was—there was real exposure there. So withdrawing the motion to get the death penalty off the table, I think, was a very reasonable strategic move to make. And it was obviously very successful." (App. p. 49 lines 6-9).

Counsel then articulated: "And the prosecutor, still recognizing that he had some problems with this case was willing to offer the minimum, a negotiated 30-year sentence where Mr. Brown would know, as soon as he walked up in front of the judge and pled guilty, that he's

not be receiving more than 30 years.” (App. p. 49 lines 12-16). Further, Counsel testified he did not coerce Petitioner to plead guilty, and that this was Petitioner’s decision. (App. p. 50 lines 15-22).

Petitioner testified he admitted to the plea judge that he pled guilty because he was guilty. (App. p. 61 line 20- p. 62 line 2). He also stated no one threatened him or coerced him to plead guilty. (App. p. 62 lines 3-6). Additionally, Petitioner stated he chose to plead guilty on his own free will. (App. p. 62 lines 7-9). Petitioner testified he did not tell the plea judge that he wanted a trial. (App. p. 64 lines 6-8). Petitioner lastly stated he understood all of the plea court’s questions, agreed with the facts of the case, and, most importantly, agreed with the negotiations in the case. (App. p. 64 lines 12-17).

The PCR court correctly held Counsel was not ineffective for withdrawing the motions to suppress Petitioner’s statements and physical evidence resulting from those statements. The PCR court also correctly held Counsel articulated valid strategic reasons for negotiating with the prosecutor to remove the death penalty as a potential outcome of Petitioner’s trial, albeit without Petitioner’s consent. Counsel negotiated with the State to withdraw the notice of intent to seek the death penalty in exchange for Petitioner withdrawing his motions to suppress. Counsel also negotiated Petitioner’s sentence down to the minimum on a murder charge: 30 years. This strategic decision limited Petitioner’s exposure; thus, giving Petitioner the knowledge of his exact sentence. Petitioner testified, under oath, that he understood and agreed with the negotiations in this case. Had Petitioner not agreed with these negotiations, he had ample opportunity to enlighten the plea judge, but chose not to. Further, Petitioner presented no evidence at the PCR hearing why he should be allowed to depart from the truth of his statements during the guilty plea. Crawford v. U.S., 519 F.2d 347 (4th Cir. 1975).

Moreover, Counsel was completely within his discretion to negotiate with the State, even without Petitioner's consent, to have the death penalty removed as a possibility as this decision was clearly in Petitioner's best interest. While Petitioner argues that Rule 1.2 of the South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct stands for the principle that the client is in ultimate control of his criminal case, and that the lawyer should abide by the client's wishes, he fails to acknowledge that part (a) and comment 2 clearly state that Counsel may take such action as he is impliedly authorized to take. Clients also normally defer to the knowledge and skill of the lawyer with respect to legal and tactical matters. Here, Counsel made a very informed and strategic decision which was in Petitioner's best interest. Counsel acted well within his professional discretion and took an action which ultimately benefitted Petitioner. Therefore, this decision cannot be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel. Lastly, Petitioner can prove no resulting prejudice because had Counsel not made this choice, Petitioner would have been facing the death penalty.

Accordingly, sufficient "evidence of probative value" exists to sustain the PCR judge's findings that Counsel rendered effective assistance of counsel in this case, and Petitioner failed to prove any resulting prejudice from Counsel's alleged deficiencies. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). Therefore, Petitioner has failed to meet his burden of proof as to this argument.

CONCLUSION


For all the foregoing reasons stated above, Respondent respectfully requests the judgment of the lower court be affirmed.